REGULAR MEETING

OF THE CITY COUNCIL TUESDAY, JULY 21, 2020 PARTICIPATE VIA WEBEX USING THE INFORMATION BELOW: 6:30 PM Tuesday, Jul 21, 2020

Meeting Information

MEETING LINK:

HTTPS://CITYOFTHORNEBAY.MY.WEBEX.COM/CITYOFTHORNEBAY.MY/J.PHP?MTID=MC8900FBE85 E10B3B18F0437666801346

MEETING NUMBER:

126 795 8826

PASSWORD:

WWvrNqiH358 (99876744 from phones and video systems)

1) CONSENT AGENDA:

a) MINUTES:

- 1) Minutes of the July 6, 2020, Special City Council Meeting, discussion and action item:
- 2) Minutes of the July 7, 2020, Regular City Council Meeting, discussion and action item:

3) EXECUTIVE SESSION:

a) There will be an Executive Session to discuss matters of the immediate knowledge of which would clearly have an adverse effect upon the finances of the city; discussion and action item: (No action will be taken during executive session except for those which give direction to the Municipal Attorney.)

4) NEW BUSINESS:

- a) Appointment of Vice Mayor for the City of Thorne Bay, discussion and action item:
- b) Amending the authorized bank signers for the City of Thorne Bay's First Bank and Tongass Federal Credit Union checking accounts, discussion and action item:
 - a. Removing the following bank signers:
 - i. Wayne Benner
 - ii. Harvey McDonald
 - b. Adding the following as authorized banking account signers:
 - i. Les Carter, City Administrator
 - ii. _____, Vice Mayor

Adding the following for the purpose of processing Payroll ACH deposits for the City of Thorne Bay Lisa Roseland, Accounts Receivable/Customer Service

Complete list of authorized signers on the City of Thorne Bay Checking Account: Teri Feibel, CMC, City Clerk/Treasurer Dana Allison, Finance Officer Les Carter, City Administrator Lee Burger, Mayor _____, Vice Mayor

c) <u>Resolution 20-07-21-01</u>, Authorizing the Participation of its employees in the Public Employees' Deferred Compensation Plan of Alaska and the Payment of the Required Contributions, Pursuant to AS 39.45 ET SEQ, discussion and action item:

5) ORDINANCE FOR INTRODUCTION:

6) ORDINANCE FOR PUBLIC HEARING:

a) Ordinance 20-07-21-01 amending Title 3-Revenue and Finance, Chapter 3.17-Sales Tax, Adding Sections to provide for Remote Seller Sales Tax collection, discussion and action item:

7) EXPENDITURES EXCEEDING \$2,000.00:

a) Authorizing the expenditure up to \$5,000.00, for the replacement of Fire Extinguishers for the City of Thorne Bay Municipal Buildings, discussion and action item:

MINUTES FOR THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF THORNE BAY, ALASKA MONDAY, JULY 6, 2020 TIME: 6:00 p.m.

LOCATION: TELECONFERENCE/VIDEO CONFERENCING LINE

1) CALL TO ORDER:

Mayor Burger called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.

2) PLEDGE TO FLAG:

The audience and council stood for the pledge to the flag.

3) ROLL CALL:

Those in attendance were: Stram, Burger, Edenfield, Hert, Rhodes, Longbotham & McDonald

4) APPROVAL OF AGENDA:

Burger moved to approve the agenda. Longbotham seconded the motion.

MOTION:	Move to approve the agenda
F/S:	Burger/Longbotham
YEAS:	Burger, Longbotham, Rhodes, Hert, McDonald, Stram & Edenfield
NAYS:	None
STATUS:	Motion Passed

5) MAYOR'S REPORT:

Burger explained the special meeting was a requirement by code to certify the results of the Special Election held on June 30, 2020.

6) PUBLIC COMMENTS:

No public comments.

7) COUNCIL COMMENTS:

No council comments.

8) NEW BUSINESS:

a) Certifying the results of the June 30, 2020, Special Recall Election, discussion and action <u>item</u>:

Burger moved to Certifying the results of the June 30, 2020, Special Recall Election. McDonald

seconded the motion. There was no further discussion.

MOTION: Move to certify the results of the Special Recall Election, June 30, 2020

F/S: Burger/McDonald

YEAS: Burger, Longbotham, Rhodes, Hert, McDonald, Edenfield & Stram

NAYS: None

STATUS: Motion Passed

9) CONTINUATION OF PUBLIC COMMENT:

There were no public comments.

10) CONTINUATION OF COUNCIL COMMENT:

Eric Rhodes commented on the following:

• Garry Knapp have been subject to recall and beat it

11) ADJOURNMENT:

6:12p.m.

Lee Burger, Mayor

ATTEST:

Teri Feibel, CMC

MINUTES

FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF THORNE BAY, ALASKA **TUESDAY, JULY 7, 2020 TIME: 6:30 p.m.**

LOCATION: TELECONFERENCE/VIDEO CONFERENCING LINE

1) CALL TO ORDER:

Mayor Burger called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.

2) PLEDGE TO FLAG:

Council and audience pledged to the flag.

3) ROLL CALL:

Edenfield, Burger, Hert, Longbotham, Rhodes, Stram & McDonald

4) APPROVAL OF AGENDA:

Burger moved to approve the agenda. Rhodes seconded the motion.

MOTION:	Move to approve the agenda
F/S:	Burger/Rhodes
YEAS:	Hert, Stram, Rhodes, Burger, Longbotham, McDonald and Edenfield
NAYS:	None
STATUS:	Motion Passed.

5) MAYOR'S REPORT:

Burger reported on the following.

- Reminded everyone to do their part in keeping the community safe and free of the COVID virus. People can do this by remembering to continue Social Distancing, proper hygiene and sanitation, sanitize frequently touched surfaces etc.
- Guests coming into the Community make sure to take the COVID-19 test. City and State mandates that travelers must comply with 14-day quarantine unless they have gotten the COVID-19 testing done and show negative results after arriving to the community. Remember that a second test is supposed to be taken 5-7 days after arrival.

6) ADMINISTRATIVE REPORTS:

a.) City Clerk Report:

City Clerk reported on the following:

➢ Results of the Special Recall Election June 30th were:

Question 1:

Shall Rosalyn Hert be recalled from the office of Thorne Bay City Council? Yes – 92

No – 112

With 112 **no** votes Councilmember Rosalyn Hert will **NOT** be recalled from office and shall serve the remainder of her term as elected at the October 2019 Regular Election.

Question 2:

Shall Roger Longbotham be recalled from the office of Thorne Bay City Council?

Yes – 95 No – 107

With 107 **no** votes Councilmember Roger Longbotham will **NOT** be recalled from office and shall serve the remainder of his term as elected at the October 2019 Regular Election.

Question 3:

Shall Eric Rhodes be recalled from the office of Thorne Bay City Council?

Yes – 98 No – 106

With 106 **no** votes Councilmember Eric Rhodes will **NOT** be recalled from office and shall serve the remainder of his term as elected at the October 2019 Regular Election.

Explained that the Resolution on the agenda for the CARES Funding was to approve how the funds were to be spent, but the dollar amount provided for each item is not concrete. Those figures were provided based on our research and best estimates.

7) PUBLIC COMMENTS:

Sean Kaer commented on the following:

- Expressed concern regarding the proposed projects the City has presented for the use of the CARES funding.
- Concerned the City wanted to purchase boat motors for an EMS boat with the City didn't have an EMS boat. Or the one that they had was damaged and had sunk and unrepairable.

Les Carter commented on the following:

Invited Mr. Sean Kaer to visit with him when he was settled into the City Administrator position.

8) COUNCIL COMMENTS:

Burger commented on the following:

- Explained the EMS boat had never sunk. The boat was at the Solid Waste site waiting to be painted with a specialty paint to repair the damage done by being painted in that past with Copper paint.
- Explained the EMS boat was looked at by an expert and can certify that the vessel can be repaired by sand blasting and painting.

Stram commented on the following:

Could the expert sign something that certifies that says the boat can be repaired as stated?

Burger commented on the following:

Stated his son Kalvin works for Rosema Boatworks and he inspected the boat and could testify to the fact that the boat is easily repaired with the specialty paint.

Longbotham commented on the following:

Had to go down south to take care of his mother in-law and unable to fulfil the duties of Vice Mayor, so he would be stepping down from the Vice Mayor position and retaining his council seat.

Rhodes commented on the following:

- > When will we be filling the EMS Coordinator Position?
- Requested a community meeting or public hearing regarding Thorne Bay's Watershed management. Prince of Wales Watershed Association has been looking for funding since 2015, but maybe we could get ready and identify some of the key areas for when a coalition does come together and get funded again.

9) CONSENT AGENDA:

b) <u>MINUTES</u>:

- 1. Minutes for the May 5, 2020, Regular City Council Meeting, discussion and action item:
- 2. Minutes for the June 2, 2020, Regular City Council Meeting, discussion and action item:
- 3. Minutes for the June 16, 2020, Regular City Council Meeting, discussion and action item:

Burger moved to approve the minutes of the May 5, 2020, June 2, 2020, and June 16, 2020, Regular City Council meeting. Stram seconded the motion.

MOTION: Move to approve the minutes of the May 5, 2020, June 2, 2020, and June 16, 2020, Regular City Council meeting

F/S: Burger/Stram

YEAS: Edenfield, McDonald, Longbotham, Burger, Stram, Rhodes & Hert

NAYS: None

STATUS: Motion Passed.

10) NEW BUSINESS:

a) Presentation from Carol Fletcher, IGAP Coordinator Organized Village of Kasaan, regarding Solid Waste Management & Recycling, discussion item:

Carol Fletcher, IGAP Coordinator for the Organized Village of Kasaan provided the following presentation.

We are doing an integrated Solid Waste Management Plan (IGAP) in government assistance program. And I would like to include Thorn Bay in it. What it basically does is tells you what your waste is. For example, they did one in Klawock and found out that 50% of their solid waste food waste. So, I just think it would be a really good thing to involve Thorne Bay into kind of encompass this area here. And so, I planned out Jordan Bay would be interested in being involved in this project that I have.

What we would do is we take garbage from a number of households that think it's up to 20 households in Thorne Bay and South Thorne Bay, go through the garbage, put it in piles of plastic of cans, tin cans, food etc. We would be able to find the percentage of waste in each of these classifications.

Comments:

The City Clerk stated that Thorne Bay would be interested in joining the program and invited Carol Fletcher to meet with her and the Solid Waste department to work out the details of how to move forward.

b) Resolution 20<u>-07-07-01</u>, authorizing the City of Thorne Bay to join the Alaska Remote Seller Sales Tax Commission for the purpose of developing, implementing, and enforcing a remote sellers sale tax code, discussion and action item:

Burger moved to approve Resolution 20-07-07-01. Rhodes seconded the motion.

Hert inquired if the amendment would this still allow for senior sales tax exemption? Clerk confirmed that it would. Hert wanted to clarify that the amendment would not be making a change to the local sales tax. The City Clerk replied that the change would only affect the online sales.

MOTION:	Move to approve Resolution 20-07-07-01
F/S:	Burger/Rhodes
YEAS:	Hert, Stram, Rhodes, Burger, Longbotham, McDonald and Edenfield
NAYS:	None
STATUS:	Motion Passed.

c) Authorizing the City of Thorne Bay to enter into an agreement with the Alaska Intergovernmental Remote Seller Sales Tax Agreement, discussion and action item:

Burger moved to authorize City of Thorne Bay to enter into an agreement with the Alaska Intergovernmental Remote Seller Sales Tax Agreement. Longbotham seconded the motion. There was no further discussion.

MOTION:	Move to authorize the City of Thorne Bay to enter into an agreement with the Alaska
	Intergovernmental Remote Seller Sales Tax Agreement
F/S:	Burger/Longbotham
YEAS:	Edenfield, Burger, Stram, McDonald, Hert, Longbotham and Rhodes
NAYS:	None
STATUS:	Motion Passed.

d) Resolution 20-07-07-02, approving the projects list of expenses to be performed and paid for from the CARES Grant Funding, discussion and action item:

Burger moved to approve Resolution 20-07-07-02, approving the projects list of expenses to be performed and paid for from the CARES Grant Funding. McDonald seconded the motion.

Rhodes stated that his understanding was that this was a guideline and kind of a path to the spending and not necessarily an exact amount that we're going to spend on every line item in there. Example, instead of the heart monitor at \$33,000, we can get an ATV with the gurney other, otherwise known as a cu tax system and be able to get anywhere in the neighborhood in the wintertime, and some of the things could use adjustment.

Hert stated she wanted to the see the funds benefit the community as a whole and not just sections.

Rhodes requested an amendment to the Resolution to include the City providing funding to residents in hardships. Burger and McDonald amended their first and second to the motion for approving the resolution with the amendment to include funding for residents to apply for hardships.

The City Clerk explained that she and Priscilla Goulding had been doing research on how other communities were spending their funds and a number of them had provided an opportunity for residents to apply for hardship funding through their CARES funds.

Longbotham stated that he thought this was a wonderful program that was going to show up some stuff that we've been really hurting with in our community. And it's going to build up the EMS program and is going to be very beneficial plus it also helps protect people from this pandemic so I think it's just we just kind of move forward it's going to benefit the whole community.

McDonald agreed with Longbotham on benefitting the community as a whole.

Priscilla Goulding stated that the suggestions for medical supplies were provided by a local medical persons with the expertise and knowledge of what the EMS needed. This person spent a lot of time researching prices to help us. City respects their time and knowledge provided. The city would not purchase supplies that the staff didn't have the training to use. We are waiting until the new Administrator comes on board to fire a new EMS Coordinator. Once we have that person, they will be the one to ultimately prepare the order for the supplies needed.

Les Carter stated as incoming administrator he supports the option for residents to apply for the hardship.

City Clerk explained that the ATV Rhodes mentioned was actually something that the CARES Grant Administrator, Priscilla Goulding had actually spoken with someone today that brought that very idea up of purchasing an ATV for the EMS, for accessing some properties that are not easy to access with vehicles or an ambulance, especially during the winter with snowy and icy roads. The main point of the resolution is direction of how to spend the money and in which departments, not so much on the dollar amounts, we did do the best in trying to gather all that information and read doing the research for the cost of the different monitors the cost of supplies. Is what we listed going to be the maximum need for Thorne Bay's Emergency Response? Probably not, but we tried to give you what we thought was the most predictable or the most correct way we would spend the funds. The actual dollar amount is absolutely subject to change and the needs may also be subject to change. The, the ATV was one of the items added in the resolution, there was also some funding for reimbursement of fuel where the library and the EMS had applied for a grant that will deliver a ton of food that they would be delivering to Thorne Bay and South Thorne Bay. The guarantine facility that we provided to you guys in the resolution, I don't believe the amount that we have listed would build the entire facility, and so it may need to be done in phases. RFP's will come in and the council is going to be the ones that have to approve that and decide do we move forward or not, but should those funds not be expended on that, then they were going to be expended somewhere else in the resolution.

The City Clerk concluded that if the resolution needed to be modified it absolutely could. Additionally, if anyone ever wanted to see how this money is spent, or any funds in the City are spent, they could absolutely make an appointment to come into City Hall and we will show you. We can account for every penny anywhere in the city, I can guarantee that.

MOTION:	Move to approve Resolution 20-07-07-02, with the amendment to include funding for
	residents to apply for hardships.
F/S:	Burger/McDonald
YEAS:	Berger, Longbotham, McDonald, Edenfield, Stram, Hert & Rhodes
NAYS:	None
STATUS:	Motion Passed

e) Review and award of Proposals for Repair and Reconstruction of the South Thorne Bay Road; discussion and action item:

Burger moved to review the proposals for the repair and reconstruction of the South Thorne Bay Road. Rhodes seconded the motion.

Longbotham stated the way he looked at it is, is in order to eliminate potholes, you almost have to disturb the soil all around the potholes to get them so you can repack the entire area, or you will end up with potholes again. The roads need more repair than what grading can provide.

McDonald stated he agreed with Longbotham and one of the things we need to consider is the potholes are so big we will need to tear up the road in order to repair it. McDonald stated he was concerned that either we didn't address the need correctly in the RFP or they just wanted to offer what they offered. McDonald stated he wanted to reach out to the bidder to get more clarification.

Hert stated the bid received did not clarify what they would or wouldn't be able to do.

Rhodes moved to table the item for further information. Rhodes also requested that James or Max be there for clarification of needs. Burger seconded the motion.

- MOTION: Move to table the item for further information
- F/S: Rhodes/Burger
- YEAS: Edenfield, McDonald, Longbotham, Burger, Rhodes, Stram & Hert
- NAYS: None
- STATUS: Motion Passed.

11) ORDINANCE FOR INTRODUCTION:

a) <u>Ordinance 20-07-21-01</u> amending Title 3-Revenue and Finance, Chapter 3.17-Sales Tax, Adding Sections to provide for Remote Seller Sales Tax collection, discussion and action item:

Burger moved to approve Ordinance 20-07-21-01. McDonald seconded the motion. There was no further discussion.

MOTION:	Move to approve Ordinance 20-07-21-01
F/S:	Burger/McDonald
YEAS:	Rhodes, Longbotham, McDonald, Edenfield, Hert, Stram & Burger
NAYS:	None
STATUS:	Motion Passed

12) EXPENDITURES EXCEEDING \$2,000.00:

a) <u>Authorizing the expenditure up to \$5,000.00, for the replacement of Fire Extinguishers</u> for the City of Thorne Bay Municipal Buildings, discussion and action item:

Burger moved to approve the expenditure up to \$5,000.00 for replacement of Fire Extinguishers for the City. Longbotham move to table the agenda. Burger seconded the motion. There was further discussion

MOTION:	Move to table this item for further information
F/S:	Burger/Longbotham
YEAS:	Edenfield, Burger, Hert, Stram, McDonald, Longbotham & Rhodes
NAYS:	None
STATUS:	Motion Passed.

b) <u>Authorizing the expenditure of \$5,295.00, plus shipping, for the purchase of Sewer</u> Inspection Camera, discussion and action item:

Move to approve the expenditure of \$5,295.00, plus shipping, for the purchase of Sewer Inspection Camera. Rhodes seconded the motion. There was no further discussion.

MOTION:	Move to approve
F/S:	Burger/Rhodes
YEAS:	Rhodes, Hert, Stram, Burger, Edenfield, Longbotham & McDonald
NAYS:	None
STATUS:	Motion Passed

13) CONTINUATION OF PUBLIC COMMENT:

Thom Cunningham commented on the following:

- The road repairs need more assistance, there are underlying issues, the gutters only have been cleaned out once, and every winter problem with standing water
- On the remote seller sales tax, only about 80% of the world is connected to internet, so catalog or internet sales could be added to be taxed.

Sean Kaer commented on the following:

- Don't want to discredit your son, and I would ask that we ask the Coast Guard to come over and test the boat to make sure is holds up
- > Thank Roger, think admirable to pass on Vice Mayor while retaining seat
- > Would like to talk with Carol regarding the composting and if we bring in containers
- I understand why passed the amendment with COVID but would be easier for public to pass if we see things like the ATV and instead of the heart monitor

14) CONTINUATION OF COUNCIL COMMENT:

Longbotham commented on the following:

> I did have concern about that boat being able to pass coast guard standards

Edenfield commented on the following:

- Working on the food bank through the Alaska Food Program and they are providing to families regardless of need. It is shelf life food to help supplement budget and allow you to purchase more fruits and perishables with your money
- Our first shipment was reported to shipped to us, but we have no notice on how it was sent. This will go until end of August. We will make our last order in August to have enough to help through the winter months.

15) ADJOURNMENT:

Adjourned the meeting at 7:59 p.m.

Lee Burger, Mayor

ATTEST:

Teri Feibel, CMC & Treasurer



RESOLUTION 20-07-21-01 CITY OF THORNE BAY

A RESOLUTION BY OF THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF THORNE BAY, ALASKA, AUTHORIZING THE PARTICIPATION OF ITS EMPLOYEES IN THE PUBLIC EMPLOYEES' DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN OF ALASKA AND THE PAYMENT OF THE REQUIRED CONTRIBUTIONS, PURSUANT TO AS 39.45 ET SEQ

WHEREAS, The City Council is the governing body for the City of Thorne Bay, and

WHEREAS, the City of Thorne Bay, located in Thorne Bay, Alaska, wishes to increase the fringe benefits of its employees by adoption of a deferred compensation program.

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council for the City of Thorne Bay, that

- 1. Pursuant to AS 39.45.010 et. seq., the City of Thorne Bay of Thorne Bay, Alaska, requests permission to become a participating employer of the Public Employee's Deferred Compensation Program of Alaska.
- 2. All regular full-time employees of the City of Thorne Bay shall be participating members of the Public Employees' Deferred Compensation Program of Alaska.
- 3. All regular part-time employees of the City of Thorne Bay shall be participating members of the Public Employees' Deferred Compensation Program of Alaska.
- 4. The following employee groups are excluded from participation:
 - a) <u>Temporary Employees</u>. Temporary employees are employees hired on an interim replacement basis, or for temporary work, on a predetermined work schedule with a termination date established upon hire. A temporary employee may be separated from city service demoted or suspended without cause in the full discretion of the mayor or the city administrator. If employees hired on a temporary basis become permanent employees, they are entitled to sick leave and annual leave accruals retroactive to their date of hire.

- b) <u>Probationary Employees</u>. A probationary employee is an employee that is considered a part of the complement needed for performing city services but without permanent status. All appointments and promotions to positions in the city, as well as former employees who are rehired, shall be on a probationary basis of six months. During the probationary period, an employee may be terminated, and a promoted employee returned to the previously held position from which he was promoted, or an equivalent one, at the discretion of the mayor. The employee may be dismissed or demoted during this period of probation at any time without right of appeal or hearing. Probationary employees shall not be entitled to benefits, including but not limited to annual leave, health insurance, life insurance, or the city's retirement program. Upon successful completion of probationary period (six months) full benefits will be available.
- c) <u>Project Employees</u>. Project employees are employees hired, appointed or who volunteer for a specific project or position which is not considered to be part of the regular complement work force needed to perform municipal services. Project employees shall be hired and operate pursuant to terms and conditions approved by the mayor. Project employees may be separated from city service, demoted or suspended without cause in the full discretion of the mayor or the city administrator without right of appeal or hearing. The provisions of Section 2.24.080 do not apply to project employees. Project employees shall not be entitled to benefits, including but not limited to annual leave, sick leave, holidays, health insurance, life insurance, or the city's retirement program. Project employees shall be entitled to benefits required by State or Federal law including Worker's Compensation, Unemployment Insurance, Medicaid and Social Security withholding. Project employees shall not be considered for hire, appointment or volunteer until the person's accounts with the city are made current. The City Council will consider financial or other hardships.
- 5. The City of Thorne Bay acknowledges the Public Employees' Deferred Compensation Program of Alaska is a voluntary plan which accepts employee contributions on either a pre-tax or post-tax basis through payroll deduction. No employer contributions may be made to the program.
- 6. The City of Thorne Bay further requests that participation in the Public Employee's Deferred Compensation Program of Alaska be made effective as of July 19th, 2020.

- 7. The City Council for the City of Thorne Bay, authorizes and directs the City Clerk/Treasurer to:
 - a. take any and all steps necessary to enroll the City of Thorne Bay and its employees in the Public Employee's Deferred Compensation Program;
 - b. initiate a Participation Agreement between the City of Thorne Bay and the State of Alaska; Department of Administration

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED BY the City Council for the City of Thorne Bay, Alaska, this 21st day of July 2020.

Lee Burger, Mayor

ATTEST:

Teri Feibel, CMC, City Clerk & Treasurer



CITY OF THORNE BAY ORDINANCE 20-07-21-01

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF THORNE BAY, ALASKA, -AMENDING TITLE 3-REVENUE AND FINANCE; CHAPTER 3.17-SALES TAX; SECTIONS 3.17.020, 025 & ADDING SECTION 3.17.220- REMOTE SELLER SALES TAX, TO THE THORNE BAY MUNICIPAL CODE

BE IT ENACTED BY THE CITY COUNCIL FOR THE CITY OF THORNE BAY, ALASKA

- Section 1. <u>Classification</u>. This ordinance is of a general and permanent nature, the chapter and section hereby amended shall be added to the Thorne Bay Municipal Code.
- Section 2. <u>Severability</u>. If any provisions of this ordinance or any application thereof to any person or circumstances is held invalid, the circumstances shall not be affected thereby.
- Section 3. <u>Amendment of Section</u>. The title and chapters of Title 3 Revenue and Finance, Chapter 3.17 – Sales Tax, Section 3.17.020-Levy of Tax, 3.17.025-Rules Applicable to Particular Business or Occupation; 3.17.220 - Alaska uniform remote seller sales tax code adopted by reference; are hereby amended and added to the Thorne Bay Municipal Code.
- Section 4. <u>Effective Date</u>. This ordinance shall become effective upon adoption.

PASSED AND APPROVED July 21, 2020

Lee Q. Burger, Mayor

ATTEST:

Teri Feibel, CMC

[Introduction: July 7, 2020] [Public Hearing: July 21, 2020]

TITLE 3 – SALES TAX

CHAPTER 3.17 - CONSUMER'S SALES TAX 3.17.010 DEFINITIONS.

For the purposes of this chapter, the following words and phrases have the meanings respectively ascribed to them:

- A. **"Buyer" or "consumer**" means and includes, without limitation on the generality of the terms, every individual, receiver, assignee, trustee in bankruptcy, trust, estate, firm, co-partnership, joint venture, club, company, business trust, corporation, association, society, or any group of individuals acting as a unit, whether mutual, cooperative, fraternal, nonprofit or otherwise.
- B. "DELIVERY" MEANS THAT GOODS HAVE BEEN PLACED WITHIN THE BUYER'S CONTROL.
- C. "LEASE" MEANS A CONTRACT PERMITTING THE USE OR OCCUPANCY OF REAL OR PERSONAL PROPERTY FOR CONSIDERATION.
- D. "OTHER LEASE TYPES" MEANS ANY LEASE THAT IS NOT A CAPITAL LEASE.
- E. "Remuneration for services" means and includes the gross remuneration received for furnishing labor and materials for accomplishing a specified result, including travel and adventure services, and rentals of all types, including but not limited to rentals of equipment, buildings, lands and materials. It shall not be construed to include salaries or wages received by an employee from an employer.
- F. "RENTAL" MEANS ANY TRANSFER OF THE RIGHT TO USE OR OCCUPY PROPERTY FOR CONSIDERATION.
- G. "RESIDENTIAL RENTALS" MEANS RENTAL OF A DWELLING DESIGNED FOR LIVING OR SLEEPING PURPOSES.
- H. "Retail sale" or "sale at retail" means any nonexempt sale of services, rentals, or tangible personal property made to a buyer who intends to use, consume, or receive the item or services purchased for his own personal use as the ultimate consumer with no intention to sell the item again, whether to be sold in the same form as received, or in the same modified condition or after fabrication or use with some other substance or item. Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, arrangements made with another person or agent, including, but not limited to, a travel agent, broker, representative, tour operator, tour marketer, or cruise ship line, by a provider of services, rentals or goods to market such services, rentals, or goods, (including travel and adventure services) or to provide such services, rentals or goods to another person, or the transfer to the buyer of the right or privilege to receive or assign such services,

rentals or goods, is a taxable sale by such provider, and such provider is a seller for purposes of this chapter. The point of delivery of services, rentals, or tangible property is the point at which the sale is deemed to have occurred except purchase of city harbor privileges as provided in (c) of this section.

- 1. The sale is subject to the city's sales tax when the point of delivery of tangible personal property is within the city.
- 2. Where a real estate rental is located or where other rental property is delivered in the city, the sale of the same is subject to the city's sales tax.
- 3. Where a buyer receives a service within the limits of the city, and the service begins and ends therein, or, where the buyer receives an entire service therein, the sale of the same is subject to the city's sales tax; provided, however, purchase from the city of the privilege to use any harbor facilities owned or operated by the city shall be deemed to be a transaction and sale that shall be taxable unless otherwise made exempt by this code.
- 4. A person who furnishes proof, in the form required by the revenue collector, that he has paid a sales tax in some jurisdiction other than the city, on the sale of services, rentals, or tangible personal property, is required to pay the City's sales tax only to the extent between the amount of the sales tax so paid elsewhere and the amount of the sales tax levied by the City. This paragraph applies to a sales tax levied in any taxing jurisdiction whether in or outside the state. (Ord. 17-03-21-02)
- 1. **"Sale for resale**" means the sale of tangible personal property to a buyer whose principal business is the resale of the property whether in the same or an altered form and who holds a valid resale certificate issued by the City of Thorne Bay. Sale for resale also means the provision of services to a broker whose principal business is the resale of those services to an ultimate consumer and who holds a valid resale certificate issued by the City of Thorne Bay. Resale certificates do not apply to: travel and adventure services if the sale is to a person who would be entitled to claim the exemption provided by section or supplies purchased by travel and adventure service providers, hotels/motels, lodges, apartment/house rentals, or bed and breakfasts which are not separately charged to the consumer when resold.
- J. "Sales tax" means and includes the tax herein levied on gross revenues derived from all taxable commercial retail sales, rentals and services, including sales of travel and adventure services, said revenues being computed in dollars and cents and the tax payable by the seller, the person performing the services, or the person receiving gross revenues from rentals, to the city.

- K. "Sales price" means and includes the consideration, whether money, credit, rights, or other property expressed in terms of money paid or delivered by a buyer to a seller, all without any deduction on account of the cost of property sold, the cost of materials used, labor costs, discount, delivery costs, or any other expenses whatsoever paid or accrued, and without any deduction on account of losses.
- L. **"Seller"** means and includes every person making sales at retail, including travel and adventure services, to a buyer or consumer whether as agent, broker or principal, and the term also means and includes persons performing services for remuneration as well as persons receiving gross revenues derived from rents.
- M. "SERVICE" MEANS ANY APPLICATION OF LABOR, SKILL OR KNOWLEDGE TO PRODUCE VALUE IN EXCHANGE FOR CONSIDERATION AND MAY INCLUDE THE PROVISION OF PROPERTY OR THE RIGHT TO USE OR OCCUPY PROPERTY, BUT DOES NOT INCLUDE SERVICES RENDERED TO AN EMPLOYER BY AN EMPLOYEE. "SERVICE" MAY INCLUDE, BUT IS NOT LIMITED TO:
 - 1. PROFESSIONAL, ADVERTISING, MAINTENANCE, RECREATION, AMUSEMENT, AND CRAFTSMAN SERVICES.
 - 2. SERVICES IN WHICH A PRODUCT OR SALE OF PROPERTY MAY BE INVOLVED, INCLUDING PERSONAL PROPERTY MADE TO ORDER.
 - 3. UTILITY SERVICES INCLUDING BUT NOT LIMITED TO SEWER, WATER, SOLID WASTE COLLECTION OR DISPOSAL, ELECTRICAL, TELEPHONE SERVICES AND REPAIR, NATURAL GAS, CABLE TELEVISION, AND INTERNET SERVICES.
 - 4. THE SALE OF TRANSPORTATION SERVICES ORIGINATING INSIDE THE CITY.
 - 5. SERVICES RENDERED FOR COMPENSATION BY ANY PERSON WHO FURNISHES ANY SUCH SERVICES IN THE COURSE OF THE PERSON'S TRADE, BUSINESS, OR OCCUPATION INCLUDING SERVICES RENDERED FOR COMMISSION WHEN THE COMMISSION IS PAID ON A SERVICE OR PRODUCT THAT HAS NOT BEEN CHARGED THE CITY SALES TAX.
- N. "SHIPPING AND FREIGHT HAULING SERVICES" MEANS THE SERVICE OF TRANSPORTING GOODS BY MEANS OTHER THAN THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE.
- O. "Single-unit sale" means the sale of a separate, single item or service which is customarily sold, advertised, contracted for sale or sold in the normal course of business as a separate and single item or unit or by a single unit of measurement (i.e., per gallon, ton, hour, day, week, month, foot, sack, yard, pound, piece, group, each, box, set, package, or other common unit of measurement). A single-unit sale shall include a sale by contract, quote, bid or other lump-sum amount only if the sale is based on and computed as a single bid, quote, sum, or package price rather than as an accumulation, sum, or aggregation of prices of separate identifiable or

separable unit prices as defined above. For purposes of package tours, every individual in the tour will count as a single unit. For purposes of harbor fees and port dockage, each foot or other measurement of length will count as a single unit.

- P. "TRANSACTION" MEANS ANY TRANSFER OF PROPERTY, OR THE RIGHT TO USE OR OCCUPY PROPERTY, OR THE RENDERING OF A SERVICE, FOR CONSIDERATION.
- Q. Travel and adventure services include, but are not limited to, tours and charters on land and water, guide services, admissions, lectures, transportation services (excluding air transportation), and the rental of lodging, aircraft, vehicles, watercraft, and equipment, including fishing, boating, camping and other tour or adventure related goods. Travel and adventure services also include sales of goods incidental or related to such services. Regardless of the location of any marketing, brokering, packaging, re- sale, assignment, or other arrangement and regardless of the beginning or ending of any other related services the point of delivery of a travel and adventure service is within the city if the ultimate consumer of the travel and adventure service receives any such service which begins, ends, or occurs, as described in (c) of subsection (3) above.
- R. "U.S. POSTAGE" MEANS THE COST OF MAILING AN ITEM BY THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE.

3.17.011 DELIVERY CHARGES.

- A. Delivery Charges. Delivery charges for services rendered for delivery of any personal property, goods or materials which delivery services both commence and terminate within the city are subject to sales taxes.
- B. Definition. "Delivery charges" means and includes any costs or charges imposed on the sale of freight services, shipping services, courier services, wharfage services, postal services, excepting postal delivery services rendered by the United States postal service, and any other services related to the delivery or transportation of any personal property, goods or materials of any nature whatsoever. (Ord. 984 §3, 1982)

3.17.012 EMPLOYEES/SUBCONTRACTORS--SALE OF SERVICES.

- A. The remuneration paid by an employer in the form of wages or salary to an employee for the sale of services by such employee to the employer are not taxable under the provisions of this chapter. Sales of services by contractors, or subcontractors, and any other type of sale of a service by a person other than an employee are taxable unless specifically exempted.
- B. A person shall be deemed to be an employee under the provisions of this chapter if the person claiming to be at employer is withholding a portion of such person's wages or salary in accordance with federal income tax laws and regulations. In the event no

amounts are being withheld, it shall be presumed such person is not an employee unless the person claiming to be his employer submits clear and convincing evidence establishing the person's status as an employee.

3.17.015 MULTIJURISDICTIONAL SERVICES.

- A. All services which either commence or terminate within the city, or which are in any part rendered, supplied or provided within the city, shall be-subject to sales tax, except as otherwise provided in this chapter.
- B. Sightseeing charter services and shore excursions by land or water, which are provided by a person in the business of providing such services and are either sold within the city or begin or end within the city are subject to sales tax under this chapter to the maximum extent permitted consistent with state and federal law.

3.17.020 LEVY OF TAX.

To the fullest extent permitted by law, a sales tax of six percent is hereby assessed and levied on the following sales, except as otherwise specifically exempted under this chapter:

- A. All retail sales; including yard sales, and sales of similar type items occurring at the same location on a regular basis, whether for profit or non-profit (weekly, bi-weekly, monthly constitute a regular basis) catalog and internet sales sold locally or out of the area.
- B. All services; including the gross receipts earned as commissions by real estate agents for sales occurring within the city limits;
- C. All rents and fees paid for the use of real and personal property. (Ord. 17-03-21-02)
- D. SELLERS WITH A PHYSICAL PRESENCE AND POINT OF DELIVERY. A SELLER THAT ESTABLISHES A PHYSICAL PRESENCE AND POINT OF DELIVERY WITHIN THE CITY IN ANY CALENDAR YEAR WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE A PHYSICAL PRESENCE WITHIN THE CITY FOR THE FOLLOWING CALENDAR YEAR. A SELLER HAS A PHYSICAL PRESENCE UNDER THIS CHAPTER WHO ESTABLISHES ONE OR MORE OF THE FOLLOWING:
 - **1.** HAS ANY OFFICE, DISTRIBUTION OR SALES HOUSE, WAREHOUSE, STOREFRONT, OR ANY OTHER PLACE OF BUSINESS WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY;
 - 2. SOLICITS BUSINESS OR RECEIVING ORDERS THROUGH ANY EMPLOYEE, AGENT, SALESMAN, OR OTHER REPRESENTATIVE WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY OR ENGAGES IN ACTIVITIES IN THIS STATE THAT ARE SIGNIFICANTLY ASSOCIATED WITH THE SELLER'S ABILITY TO ESTABLISH OR MAINTAIN A MARKET FOR ITS

PRODUCTS IN THIS STATE;

- **3.** PROVIDES SERVICES OR HOLDS INVENTORY WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY;
- 4. RENTS, SELLS, OR LEASES PROPERTY LOCATED WITHIN THE BOUNDARIES OF THE CITY; OR
- **5.** CONSTRUCTS, REPAIRS, RENOVATES, OR IMPROVES REAL PROPERTY IF THE REAL PROPERTY IS LOCATED IN THE CITY.
- E. REMOTE SALES. A REMOTE SELLER OR MARKETPLACE FACILITATOR WITHOUT PHYSICAL PRESENCE IN THE CITY THAT MAKE SALES OF PRODUCTS, RENTALS OR PROVIDES SERVICES TRANSFERRED ELECTRONICALLY, OR DELIVERED TO A POINT OF DELIVERY LOCATED INSIDE THE CITY, SHALL BE SUBJECT TO THE ALASKA REMOTE SELLER SALES TAX CODE AS PROVIDED IN SECTION 3.17.220.

3.17.025 RULES APPLICABLE TO PARTICULAR BUSINESSES OR OCCUPATIONS.

- A. REAL ESTATE SALES COMMISSIONS.
 - 1. COMMISSIONS AND/OR REALTOR FEES FOR THE SALE, RENTAL OR MANAGEMENT OF REAL PROPERTY LOCATED IN THE CITY ARE SUBJECT TO SALES TAX, REGARDLESS OF THE LOCATION OF THE PERSON TO WHOM THE COMMISSION AND/OR FEE IS PAYABLE.
 - 2. COMMISSIONS AND/OR FEES FOR THE SALE, RENTAL OR MANAGEMENT OF REAL PROPERTY PAYABLE TO A PERSON WHO MAINTAINS AN OFFICE IN THE CITY ARE SUBJECT TO SALES TAX, REGARDLESS OF THE LOCATION OF THE REAL PROPERTY.

3.17.030 DUTY OF SELLER TO COLLECT.

A. The tax levied under the provisions of this chapter is primarily upon the buyers of the personal property, rentals, or services, but the tax is payable to the city by the seller regardless of whether the seller has collected the same from the buyers. It is the duty of each seller to collect from the buyer or consumer the full amount of the sales tax payable on each taxable sale, service or rental, at the time the property sold is delivered, or when the rentals are collected. Every sale, which is made within the city, unless explicitly exempted by this chapter, or a subsequent ordinance, shall be presumed to be subject to the tax imposed under this chapter in any action to enforce the provisions of this chapter.

B. In the specific instances where the tenant is occupying space in a USDA Forest Service, owned building or land, it is the tenant's obligation to pay the sales tax directly to the City, unless the landlord is willing to voluntarily receive the tax payment and remit to the city. The Landlord shall be responsible for all delinquent or unpaid sales taxes incurred by their tenants. (Ordinance 17-12-05-02; Prior Ord. 17-03-21-02; Ord 10-10-11-01; Ord 88-50; Ord 8-11)

3.17.35 TEMPORARY SUSPENSION OF SALES TAX COLLECTION.

The Council may for periods of up to one month, suspend the duty of a seller to collect the tax levied under this chapter. The Council may establish regulations, conditions, and limitations on the suspension of the duty to collect the tax. Such regulations, conditions, and limitations may apply the suspension to the sale of certain goods, or services while requiring the collection of the tax on other goods or services.

3.17.040 TAX ADDED TO SALES PRICE.

Sellers shall add the sales tax to the sales price, rental, or charge for services. Such sales tax is a debt from the buyer or consumer to the seller until paid, and the same is recoverable at law in the same manner as other debts.

3.17.050 UNLAWFUL FOR SELLER TO FAIL TO COLLECT.

- A. Any seller who willfully or intentionally fails, neglects, or refuses to comply with the provision of this chapter is guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine not to exceed five hundred dollars, or imprisonment, not to exceed thirty days, or both; each act of violation and every day upon which any such violation occurs shall constitute a separate offense.
- B. In addition to the penalties provided elsewhere for violation of this section, a seller who intentionally or recklessly violates this section shall be liable to the city for civil penalties in an amount of three times the amount of sales tax the seller failed to collect.

3.17.051 COLLECTION OF SALES TAX AND NOT DUE.

It shall be unlawful and a violation of this title for a person to charge and collect sales tax which is not due under this title. (Ord. 1562 §7, 2006)

3.17.060 TAX TO BE PAID QUARTERLY.

The tax levied under this chapter is due and payable at the expiration of each quarter of each calendar year. It is the duty and responsibility of every seller liable for the collection of any tax imposed in this chapter, unless otherwise provided herein, to file with the revenue collector upon forms prescribed and furnished by the revenue collector, a return, prepared under oath, setting forth the amount of all sales, taxable and nontaxable, the amount of tax thereon and such other information as the revenue collector may require on such form or forms. The completed and executed return, together with remittance in full for the amount of the tax due, shall be transmitted to and received by the revenue collector's department of administrative services on or before 5:00 p.m., local time on the last day of the month succeeding the end of each quarter. If the last day of the month succeeding the end of each quarter. If the tax due shall be transmitted and received by the revenue collector; the completed and executed return and amount of the tax due shall be transmitted and received by 5:00 p.m., local time on the next business day. Returns may be accepted based upon a timely postmark only if the return is sent certified or registered mail and receives a United States postal service cancellation on or before the due date. (Ord. 1369, §1,1997) (Ord. 17-03-21-02)

3.17.065 REGISTRATION.

- A. A person, firm, partnership, corporation or other business entity shall file an application for registration with the revenue collector's department of administrative services on a form provided by that department, prior to making any retail sales, rendering any services, making rentals within the city or the opening of an additional place of business in the city. The completed application shall be returned to that department of administrative services along with a copy of the business entity's Alaska State business license.
- B. Each business entity shall be registered under the advertised name, and each separate business shall be registered under its own account.
- C. A person, corporation or other association that is about to make sales, perform services or make rentals shall first register with the revenue collector's department of administrative services and shall make the deposit of cash or bond required by this section unless the person has been a resident of the City of Thorne Bay for six months prior to registering or the corporation or association is composed of such residents or has been regularly engaged in business within said city for nine of the twelve months preceding registration.
- D. The deposit required under subsection (c) of this section must be an amount determined by the revenue collector that is not less than the maximum amount of sales

tax that the person, corporation or other association is likely to be required to collect during any filing period within a year of the date of registration.

- E. The deposit must be refunded by the revenue collector upon written request and a determination by the revenue collector that:
 - (1) The seller has filed sales tax returns and made full remittance of sales tax owing for the preceding year; or
 - (2) The seller has filed a statement that the seller has ceased engaging in transactions within the city and has remitted all sales taxes due. The deposit must be refunded by the revenue collector within thirty days of the receipt of the refund request unless the revenue collector has initiated an audit of the seller or has otherwise questioned a return made during the period under construction. The revenue collector shall be responsible for payment and safeguarding of all deposits and for maintaining all records concerning the deposits.
- F. The revenue collector may order the withdrawal from the deposit of the seller the amount that is required to make up for any deficiency or late payment of taxes. No seller may engage in transactions within the city after receipt of written notice that the revenue collector has withdrawn all or a portion of the seller's deposit for application to a delinquent or insufficient payment of sales taxes. Upon the deposit with the revenue collector of funds restoring the deposit to its original amount or such higher amount as the revenue collector determines is appropriate in light of the actual sales experience of the seller, the seller may again engage in transactions. A seller may not deduct the deposit amount from the seller's last or any other sales tax return.

3.17.070 DUTY TO KEEP BOOKS--INVESTIGATION.

- A. Every seller shall keep and preserve suitable records of all sales made by him, and such other books or accounts as may be necessary for the revenue collector to determine the amount of tax for the collection of which he is liable hereunder. Every such person shall keep and preserve for a period of two years all invoices of goods and merchandise purchased for resale, and all such books, invoices and other records as may be necessary, all of which are open for examination at any reasonable time by the revenue collector, the City Administrator, city administrator, or his or their designee.
- B. For the purpose of ascertaining the correctness of a return or for the purpose of determining the amount of tax collected or which should have been collected by any person, the City Administrator or his designee may hold investigations and hearings concerning any matters covered by this chapter, and may examine any relevant books,

papers, records, or memoranda of any such person, and may require the attendance of such person, or any officer or employee of such person. The City Administrator or his designee has the power to administer oaths and affirmations to such persons, and if any such person, being first duly sworn, refuses to answer any questions put to him by the manager or his designee, the manager may apply to the superior court for an order requiring the person to answer the questions. The City Administrator may issue subpoenas to compel attendance or to require production of relevant books, papers, records or memoranda. If any person refuses to obey any such subpoena, the City Administrator may apply to the superior court for an order requiring the person to comply therewith. The City Administrator is authorized to make arrangements with the City of Thorne Bay, authorizing the city to conduct the investigations and hearings provided herein, including the exercise of all the powers created in this chapter.

C. In the event the revenue collector is unable to ascertain the tax due to be remitted by a seller by reason of the failure of the seller to keep accurate books, allow inspection, failure to file a return, or falsification of records, the revenue collector may make an estimate of the tax due based upon all of the information available. Notice of the estimate of taxes due shall be furnished by certified mail to the seller and shall become final for the purposes of determining liability of the seller to the city in thirty days unless the seller earlier files an accurate return, supported by satisfactory records, indicating a lesser liability.

3.17.080 PENALTY AND INTEREST ON DELINQUENT TAXES.

- A. In the event a seller fails or neglects to file a return when due, or fails to remit taxes collected, or which should have been collected, in a timely manner as required by this chapter, then such return and tax is delinquent, and the revenue collector shall add thereto penalties as follows:
 - **1.** Within five working days after delinquency date 6%
 - 2. More than five working days up to and including thirty days after delinquency date 15%
 - **3.** More than thirty days up to and including sixty days after delinquency date 20%
 - **4.** More than sixty days after delinquency date 25%
- B. Interest shall accrue on the unpaid tax, not including penalty, from the date of delinquency to the date of payment at the rate of one percent per month. All remedies available to the revenue collector to collect taxes, penalties and interest, plus collection costs, shall commence on the date of delinquency. Payments received after the date of

delinquency shall be applied first to payment of any collection costs, next an interest, next on penalty, and next on the tax. In the event of partial payment, penalties shall continue to accrue on the unpaid portion of the tax as provided for in (a) of this section. Interest at the rate of one percent per month shall also accrue on any unpaid amount of tax until paid in full.

3.17.085 SALES TAX LIENS.

- A. The sales tax, interest, and penalties imposed by this chapter, and the administrative costs under subsection (f) of this section, shall constitute a lien in favor of the city upon all of the real and personal property of every person making taxable sales subject to this chapter.
- B. The lien imposed by this section arises and attaches at such time as payment becomes delinquent under Section 3.17.080 and continues until the entire amount is satisfied.
- C. If delinquent sales taxes, including interest and penalties, are not paid within ten days from the mailing of notice and demand for payment thereof, a notice of lien may be recorded in the office of the district recorder. Upon recordation, the sales tax lien has priority over all other liens except
 - 1. liens for property taxes and special assessments;
 - 2. liens that were perfected before the recording of the sales tax lien for amounts actually advanced before the recording of the sales tax lien;
 - **3.** mechanics, and materialmen's liens for which claims of lien under AS 34.35.070 or notices of right to lien under AS 34.35.064 have been recorded before the recording of the sales tax lien.
- D. An action to foreclose a lien created by this section shall be commenced and pursued in the manner provided for the foreclosure of liens in AS 09.45.170-09.45.220.
- E. The remedy provided in this section is not exclusive and shall be in addition to all other remedies available to the revenue collector to collect the sales taxes, penalties and interest due under this chapter.
- F. Fees for the administrative costs of filing on notices of liens, and releasing of liens shall be:
 - 1. Filing of notices of lien: twenty-five dollars plus recorder's office filing fee.
 - 2. Release of liens: twenty-five dollars plus recorder's office filing fee.

G. If administrative costs for the filing of notices of liens and releasing of liens are imposed and have been collected by the City of Thorne Bay on delinquent sales taxes, including penalties and interest, no additional administrative costs shall be collected under subsection (f) of this section.

3.17.090 SALE OF BUSINESS--FINAL RETURN--LIABILITY OF PURCHASER.

If any seller sells his business to another person, he shall make a final sales tax return within five days after the date of selling the business; and his purchaser, successor, successors, or assigns, shall withhold a sufficient portion of the purchase money to pay the amount of sales taxes, penalties and interest due and unpaid to the city; and provided, further, the purchaser, successor, successors, or assigns are personally liable for the payment of the taxes, penalties and interest, accrued and unpaid to the city or city or both on account of the operation of the business by any former owner, owners, or assigns as shown by the final return or an audit conducted by the city within thirty days of the filing of the final return. Before any such sale is completed, the buyer and seller shall send to the revenue collector, by registered first-class United States mail, postage prepaid, a copy of the notice shall be so sent regardless of whether such notice would have otherwise been required to have been made and sent under the other provisions of AS 45-06.101, et seq., Uniform Commercial Code--Bulk Transfers.

3.17.100 EXEMPTIONS.

The following sales and services are exempt from the sales tax :

- A. Retail sales and remuneration for services amounting to less than one hundred twentyfive dollars in any calendar quarter; however, any sales taxes collected shall be remitted;
- B. Casual and isolated sales not made in the regular course of business;
- C. Sales of insurance and bonds of guaranty and fidelity;
- D. The agreed value of new or used articles taken in trade as credit or part payment on the sale of new articles shall be deducted from the value of the article being purchased in determining the tax;
- E. Gross receipts derived from sales, services, rentals and transactions which the municipalities are prohibited from taxing under the Constitution and laws of the United States or the state;
- F. Gross receipts derived from sales initiated by orders received from outside the city where delivery is made outside the city by mail or commercial common carrier;

- G. Gross receipts derived from funeral charges and services, medical, dental, optometric, hospital services, or from sales of prescription medicines oxygen used for medical purposes, blood or blood plasma, artificial devices designed or altered for the use of a particular crippled person, artificial limbs, eyes and organs, hearing aids, prescription eyeglasses, artificial teeth sold by a dentist and materials used by a dentist in treatment, crutches, and wheelchairs; provided, however, services rendered by barbers, cosmeticians and masseurs are not exempt;
 - Gross receipts from sales, services and rentals to any nonprofit organization or nonprofit institution if such organization or institution is organized exclusively for religious, educational, or charitable purposes, and if such organization or institution has obtained a certificate of exemption as provided for in subsection (2) and displays that certificate of exemption as provided for in subsection (3) below.
 - (2) Any organization or institution described in subsection (1) may apply to the City of Thorne Bay revenue collector for a certificate of exemption. Such application shall be made on forms to be furnished by said revenue collector, and each applicant shall be required to furnish such information as said revenue collector may reasonably require. If the revenue collector determines that the applicant is entitled to an exemption provided for in this section, the revenue collector shall issue or cause to be issued a certificate of exemption which shall be effective as of its date of issue. The revenue collector shall endeavor to issue or deny the exemption within thirty days after the date an application is filed;
 - (3) A buyer seeking to make a purchase entitled to a sales tax exemption under subsection (1) shall display a valid certificate of exemption to the seller at the time of purchase. If the buyer does not so display the required valid certificate of exemption the sale is taxable, and the seller shall collect the sales tax due on the sale.
- D. Gross receipts derived from sales, services and rentals to the United States Government, the state and its political subdivision, and municipalities, or agencies funded by these governments;
- E. Retail sales of food in school and college cafeterias and lunchrooms which are operated primarily for teachers or students and which are not operated for profit;
- F. LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY
- G. Gross receipts or proceeds derived from the transportation of students to and from grade or high schools in motor or other vehicles;

- H. Gross receipts derived from sales of real property, excepting the gross receipts earned as commissions by real estate agents shall be taxable;
- I. Dues or fees to nonprofit clubs, labor unions, or fraternal organizations;
- J. Gross receipts derived from veterinary services;
- K. Gross receipts or proceeds derived from sales made directly to consumers or users of newspapers;
- L. LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY
- M. Gross receipts derived from sales of educational services by a nonprofit institution in providing a program of learning on a formal study basis in an institution of learning which has an organized curriculum consisting of specific subjects and skills as outlined in the State of Alaska course of study as officially adopted by the State Department of Education for elementary, junior high or senior high schools, for children ages five through eighteen.
- N. Gross receipts derived from sales of day care services for children;
- O. (1) Gross receipts derived from sales where the purchase is made with food coupons, food stamps or other type of certificate issued under 7 U.S.C. Sections 2011-2025 (Food Stamp Act); and (2) Food instruments, food vouchers, or other type of certificate issued under 42 U.S.C. 1786 (Special Supplemental Food Program for Women, Infants, and Children).
- P. That part of the sales price paid by the buyer for travel and adventure services purchased outside the city which is not remitted, directly or indirectly, to the person providing or performing the service and which is a selling cost or commission or similar charge.
- Q. Remuneration received for services and materials, including caskets, used or furnished for funerals;
- R. The part of the selling price of a single item of tangible personal property that exceeds seven thousand five hundred dollars (\$7,500.00). A single item is an item sold in a single sale consisting of integrated and interdependent component parts affixed or fitted to one another in such a manner as to produce a functional whole. It includes optional accessories for such items as boats and automobiles if the accessories are useful or essential for the operation or use of the item, and include in the original transaction/sale;
- S. Airfare or the air charter sales price paid for transportation of persons or on a federal airway but excluding the portions of a sale of flightseeing or round-trip air/water/shore

excursion travel or adventure services which are not charges for transportation of persons on a federal airway.

T. Gross receipts in excess of ten thousand dollars derived from sales of material and labor for the clearing of land, excavation, or fill or placement of material on real property for construction of a facility, and sales of building construction materials and labor used in constructing a permanent building within the city, provided that the improvements are constructed pursuant to a valid sales tax exemption permit issued or renewed no more than one year prior to the sale of transaction being exempted from the tax. Construction materials shall include: all structural and finish materials for a permanent building used on the lot wherein the building is being constructed, and installation of infrastructure to said building such as water, sewer, power and phone and all parts to said infrastructure. Sales, to qualify for this exemption, shall be recorded by the seller, together with the date, the purchaser's name, and the sales tax exemption permit number. Any purchaser who attempts to avoid paying sales tax by using a sales tax exemption permit number for materials or labor not actually used in the structure for which the permit was issued shall be subject to a civil penalty up to twenty-five percent of the price of the materials or labor involved in the evasive purchase. The cost of the permit will be six hundred dollars; 3.16.050.

(Ordinance 05-09-06-01; Prior Ord. 10-03-02-01)

3.17.110 SALES TAX EXEMPTION FOR THE ELDERLY.

Anyone sixty-five years of age or older may apply for and be issued by the City Administrator or designee a senior citizens sales tax exemption card, for fifteen dollars, to be renewed bi-annually. This card entitles the person to be exempted from the operation of the city's consumer's sales taxes on purchases of all types of property, rentals and services, except alcoholic beverages of all types and all types of tobacco products, not for use in any trade or business. No seller within the city shall charge or collect the sales tax on exempted purchases from any person who displays such a valid sales tax-exempt card. All sellers within the city shall keep records of such exempt sales and submit quarterly totals of such sales to the revenue collector, together with any other information required by law. To qualify for a tax exempt card a person must provide a copy of their Alaska ID or driver's license, and proof they have resided in Alaska, as a permanent resident for the past 12 months, received an Alaska Permanent Fund Dividend, documentation required as part of a permanent fund application or other documentation that verifies a person has established permanent residency in Alaska must be submitted to show proof of residency. (Ordinance 17-05-16-04)

A. A spouse under 65 years of age is not eligible for the exemption and cannot purchase anything without the presence of the exempt spouse except as listed in subsection (B) of this section.

B. No person who has not duly applied for and received such an exemption card may use it to obtain such tax exemption. However, in the case where a person is an invalid or otherwise physically unable to leave their home or dwelling to use the card, the city may issue a special card authorizing another person to use the special card for the benefit of the invalid or otherwise physically unable person to use the card. (Ord. 12-08-07-01)

3.17.120 UNLAWFUL TO MISREPRESENT EXEMPTIONS.

Any buyer or consumer who falsely states or in any way misrepresents the use to which merchandise or material is to be put for the purpose of securing tax exemption under the terms of this chapter is guilty of an unlawful act and upon conviction thereof is subject to the penalties provided in section 3.17.060 of this chapter.

(Ord. 870 §2(part), 1977)

3.17.130 USE OF PROCEEDS OF SALES TAX.

As of January 1, 2010, Thorne Bay Municipal Sales Tax is 6%. Five sixths (5/6) or eightythree percent (83%) of the total sales tax collected shall be used for general municipal purposes. One sixth (1/6) or seventeen percent (17%) shall be placed in a savings account at the end of each calendar quarter to be divided 40/60 for community development projects and the maintenance and improvement of streets and roads. (Ord. 10-01-05-01)

3.17.150 REGULATIONS AUTHORIZED.

The City Council or City Administrator is authorized to prescribe by departmental regulations the forms to be used and the methods and procedures to be followed by the revenue collector in collecting the taxes. This authorization does not authorize regulations of substance which impose any requirements upon buyers or sellers.

3.17.180 PROTEST OF TAX.

- A. A buyer who protests the payment of the tax levied under this chapter shall pay the tax and shall provide the seller and the revenue collector's director of administrative services with a written statement of protest within five working days of the sale. The written statement shall identify the sale, rental or service that is the subject of the tax protested, the amount of tax paid, the buyer's and seller's name, mailing address, and telephone number and the basis for the protest.
- B. If the seller protests his liability for a final assessment under Subsection 3.17.070(c) or if the seller has any other cause of action, grievance or protest concerning the legality,

collection or payment of the sales tax, he shall pay the tax under written protest setting forth the basis for the protest. No action for a refund may be maintained nor may a defense to nonpayment be maintained in a civil action unless the amount in dispute has been paid by the seller under written protest filed at or before the time of payment.

3.17.190 FORGIVENESS OF UNCOLLECTED TAXES, PENALTIES AND INTEREST.

- A. The City Administrator, with the consent of the Mayor and council, may forgive the payment of uncollected sales taxes, interest and penalty thereon and penalties for failure to file owing by a seller to the city upon a determination by the City Administrator that such uncollected sales taxes have never been collected by a substantial portion of a clearly definable class of sellers or type of transaction or service.
- B. The City Administrator may, upon recommendation of the Mayor and City Council, authorize forgiveness of uncollected sales taxes, interest and penalty thereon and penalties for failure to file, as part of the compromise and settlement of a disputed claim in an action for collection of such funds.
- C. The City Administrator, with the consent of the Mayor and City Council, may onetime forgive the payment of uncollected sales taxes, interest, and penalty thereon and penalties for failure to file owning by a seller to the city upon a determination by the city administrator that such uncollected sales taxes are the result of a family medical hardship. (Ord. 17-03-21-02)

3.17.200 APPEALS.

- A. A seller aggrieved by the action of the revenue collector in fixing the amount of the tax or in imposing a penalty or interest shall appeal to the revenue collector's manager within forty-one calendar days from the date taxes are due and payable under this chapter. A seller who has a cause of action, grievance or protest concerning the legality, collection or payment of the sales tax shall appeal in this manner and within the same forty-one days. All right to an appeal shall be deemed waived if not timely requested as set forth in this subsection.
- B. Contested taxes, penalties and interest that remain unpaid shall continue to accrue penalty and interest as provided by this title until paid. Contested taxes, penalties and interest that are paid and are found to be overpaid shall be refunded with interest at the rate of eight percent from the date of payment.

- C. All appeals shall be filed in writing with the revenue collector's manager and shall contain all of the following information:
 - 1. Name, address, and telephone number of the aggrieved seller;
 - 2. A specific and detailed statement of the amount of tax, interest or penalty contests, the basis and grounds upon which the appeal is made, and all pertinent records, documents, or other evidence substantiating the grounds as stated;
 - 3. A statement of the relief sought; and
 - 4. A statement as to whether a hearing is requested.
- D. Arguments or reasons for failure to timely file a return and remit taxes collected shall not be considered a valid basis or grounds for granting an appeal. The basis and grounds for granting any appeal are limited to:
 - 1. The identity of the seller is in error;
 - 2. The amount of the debt is erroneous due to a clerical error (and the nature and extent of the error is specified in the request for a hearing);
 - 3. The seller disputes the denial of exemption(s) for certain sales; or
 - 4. Taxes have been levied and forgiven in accordance with Section 3.17.190.
- E. A request for appeal is filed on the date it is personally delivered, or if delivered to the revenue collector's manager by United States mail, the date of the United States Postal Service postmark stamped on the properly addressed cover in which the request is mailed. If the due date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or a holiday, the due date is the next business day. A current mailing address must be provided to the revenue collector's manager with the request for appeal, and any change in mailing address after the request for appeal is filed must be reported to the revenue collector's manager.
- F. Upon such filing of a written appeal, the revenue collector's manager shall immediately send a copy thereof to the City Administrator or administrator. The city may provide written information that may be considered in deciding the appeal.
- G. Unless the appellant waives a hearing, the revenue collector's manager or person designated by the revenue collector's manager shall hold a hearing to determine whether a correction is warranted. The revenue collector's manager or designee shall decide the appeal based upon the pertinent records provided by the parties involved or discovered by any investigation ordered by the revenue collector's manager and, if a hearing is requested, any evidence presented at the hearing. If a hearing is requested, the appellant need not appear at the hearing. If the appellant fails to appear, the revenue collector's manager or designee may make a determination based upon the evidence received and any written materials submitted by the appellant. The

determination need not make formal findings of fact or conclusions of law, but the written determination shall state the reasons for the decision and indicate the evidence relied upon. Such determination shall be issued no later than ten business days after the date of hearing if a hearing is held or ten days after the appeal is filed if the hearing is waived. Such determination shall be final.

- H. Taxes, penalties, and interest declared to be due in the final determination shall be subject to normal collection action of the city. The amount due must be paid or if the decision of the revenue collector's manager is appealed, a bond to secure payment must be filed with the court in accordance with Alaska Rules of Court, Rules of Appellate Procedure.
- 1. Within thirty days after receipt of the final determination, a seller aggrieved by the decision may appeal to the Superior Court in the First Judicial District. The seller shall be given access to the revenue collector's file in the matter for preparation of the appeal. If after the appeal is heard it appears the tax was correct, the court shall confirm the tax. If incorrect, the court shall determine the amount of the tax and if the seller aggrieved is entitled to recover the tax or part of it, the court shall order the repayment. The city shall then pay the amount due within fourteen days after receipt of a certified copy of the judgment, unless the city requests a stay pending its own appeal.

3.17.210 CLERICAL ERRORS OR OMISSION, REFUND OF SALES TAX; PENALTY AND INTEREST.

- A. The revenue collector's director of administrative services may correct manifest clerical errors or omissions at any time they are found and verified.
- B. If, in payment of taxes legally imposed, a remittance by a seller through error exceeds the amount due, and the revenue collector, on audit of the account in question, is satisfied that this is the case, the city shall refund the excess to the seller with interest at eight percent from the date of payment. A claim for refund filed one year or more after the due date of the tax is forever barred. A copy of the refund audit and entitlement shall be given to the City Administrator.

3.17.220 Alaska uniform remote seller sales tax code adopted by reference. A. THE CITY ADOPTS BY REFERENCE THE ALASKA UNIFORM REMOTE SELLER SALES TAX CODE (UNIFORM CODE) OF THE ALASKA REMOTE SELLERS SALES TAX COMMISSION, AS THE CODE CURRENTLY EXISTS, AND AS MAY HEREAFTER BE AMENDED. IN THE EVENT THAT THERE IS ANY CONFLICT BETWEEN THIS CHAPTER AND THE UNIFORM CODE, THE PROVISIONS OF THE UNIFORM CODE WILL APPLY; IN THE EVENT THAT THERE IS AN APPLICABLE PROVISION IN THE UNIFORM CODE THAT IS NOT IN THIS CHAPTER, THE CITY MAY PROVIDE THAT THE UNIFORM CODE PROVISION SHALL APPLY TO LOCAL SALES, RENTALS, OR SERVICES; FURTHER, PROVIDED, HOWEVER, THAT IN THE EVENT THERE IS A CONFLICT RELATED TO EXEMPTIONS, THIS CHAPTER WILL APPLY IN LIEU OF THE SPECIFIC UNIFORM CODE PROVISION OR DEFINITION.